**RECEIVED**

JUL 14 2021

**SC Court of Appeals**

**FORM 13**

**BRIEF OF APPELLANT\***

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

[IN THE SUPREME COURT]

---

APPEAL FROM SOUTH CAROLINA

WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION

Commissioner Aisha Taylor

Commissioner Susan Barden

Commissioner Gene McCaskill

---

Appellate Case No. 2021-000517

---

Shelia Hutchins, Employee,

Appellant,

V.

Security Group, Inc., Employer, and Hartford Accident and Indemnity Co.,

Carrier,

Respondents.

---

[INITIAL] BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

Shelia F. Hutchins

1391 Wilcox Ave

Gaffney, S.C. 29341

864-490-2367

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the Full Commission fail to see the evidence of a doctor's notes and change of medication right before the mediation? Did the full commission fail to see doctor's note stated appellants was not in a mental state to be making a legal decision? Did the full commission fail to see the evidence of were the appellants ask to see the doctor right before mediation due to being forced into mediation? Did the full commission fail to see a witness statement?

2. Did the Full Commission fail to see all the evidence of appellants' counsel not being truthful to the appellants. Did full commission fail to see appellants' counsel not advising her of her rights? Did the Full commission fail to see where appellants made her counsel aware of her mental state the day before mediation? Did the full commission fail to see witness statement? Is this a competent counsel?

3. Did the Full Commission fail to see the S.C. law? Did the Full Commission fail to see no evidence of were the settlements were mailed in or received by the commission? Did the Full Commission fail to see in the settlement papers it states subject to Worker's Compensation Commission approval?

4. Did the Full Commission fail to see this is one sided? Did the Full Commission fail to see the appellants never got due process? Did the Full Commission fail to see the Appellants ask for a chance of a hearing to tell my side due to appellants counsel not advising her of her rights? Did full commission fail to see that appellants' motion to compel for medical treatment was denied while it was approved by Worker's Comp Commission. The respondents motion to compel was granted and wasn't

approved by Worker's comp Commission?

5. Did the Full Commission fell to see that the information on the form 70 was incorrect? Did the full commission fell to see all the edvience in case? Did the Full commission fell to see witness statement? Did the Full commission fell to see the respondents delayed and delayed medical treatment?

### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

In January, 2020 I had not received any medical treatment since April, 2019. So, Thomas Phillips my former counsel sent in a form 50 for treatment. The next thing, I get is a letter stated that we had mediation on April 29, 2020. I had just signed a agreement about my knee case. The letter stated it was mediation on my knee. I emailed Thomas he advise me that Penny his paralegal just mixed up the numbers. That the mediation is only for mental claim. I said I don't want to go and I am not signing this because I don't agree to it. Thomas Phillips then calls me and so I put him on speaker and Thomas Phillips knew he was on speaker with Joe Wilson and I both. Thomas said that the commission kicked it back and said we had to go to mediation. Thomas Phillips said it's the law look it up. I said I was asking for medical treatment and payment of medication. As soon As Thomas Phillips filed form 50. The denfense got me into a Forensic physicist within a month away. Thomas Phillips kept telling me that I had to go or I couldn't go in front of a commissioner. I made aware the nurse case manager that I was being forced to go to mediation and that I needed to see a doctor asap. She told me in a text that the physicist had left the practice and they don't have another one yet. I told her I was having panic attacks and anxiety attacks. I also emailed Thomas Phillips the day before to let him know I wasn't in a mental shape to go to mediation. He then called while I put him on speaker again with Joe Wilson and myself. Thomas said well we can't go in front of a commissioner until you go to this mediation. Well, I felt I had no choice but to go to mediation. We got at mediation at 9am and stayed til 6pm. I kept

telling all of them my counsel, defense and mediator that I wasn't in a good mental shape and Joe Wilson also voiced to them that I was in no mental shape. Mediator said no one is forcing you to be here. So, I raised my hand I said yes I was told that this is for my mental claim only and that I had to be here. I was told that the Judge signed off forcing me to mentation. Tracy Tiddy spoke up and said that, I think she is talking about the laws. I kept saying no settlement and I didn't even know we were talking about my knee case. We had just made agreement on the knee case. I feel Thomas Phillips didn't not give me proper counsel. At one point of the mediation my counsel and mediator and defense were all in a room without me. I kept voicing saying I was done and that, I didn't need to be here nor wanted to be here. Because, I can't thing straight to make a best deision for myself. I was having panic attacks going downstairs to my car. My anxiety was alfuw that day. The doctor had just changed my medications. I felt trapped and would say or do whatever to get out of there. Thomas said are you done for today and I said yes. I said can you please find out about them getting me into a doctor for my knee surgery. Thomas goes into the room they are all together and then comes back with trying to settle again. By this time it's been and all day with panic attacks, major headache, anxiety attacks. I just gave in cause I couldn't handle it anymore. Thomas didn't let me read over the settlement. He kinda told me some and when I voiced my thought he said its just the language they have to put. I then the next morning woke up in a panic attack. I called Thomas Philliips and told him that I was revoking my employee agreement. Thomas said if you do that they may not honor you settlement. I then revoked my employee agreement which I had 7 days to do. I then voiced that I no longer wanted to go ahead with the agreement. I emailed Worker's comp commission and it had no been recevied that they couldn't process the paperwork. Tracy Tiddy then states that she wants to file a motion to compel. Thomas Phillips mailed off paperwork on three different dates to be relived of conusel. He final was revlived of conusel on May 22,2020 for knee case and May 28,2020 for the knee claim. Meanwhile, before he was relived of consuel Tracy Tiddy filed

form 21 and motion to compel. Thomas just sent it to me with advising me of my right to respond within ten days. Nor did Thomas respond to either. Then the cases got mixed up and assigned to two different commissioners. I did have another counsel Charlie Hodge for the knee claim before Thomas Phillips took over. We were set to go to court for the knee claim and the day before I went to Charlie Hodge's office. I voiced my concern that I wasn't settling and that I wanted a hearing. Well the day of the hearing I go in and was blind sided by Charlie Hodge. I was told this is what is going to happen and I said I don't understand. He got angry and said it's the law. We went to the hearing and all of the supervisor's, VP, and others' that had been harrasing me at work were let into the court room. I am panic and frozen cause the two main women standing back there whiseling and laughing. I stopped the hearing and talk with Charlie he said you not going to get anything else. I did refuse to sign the paperwork but then did after they made some changes to it. I feel that I didn't have counsel willing to do what my wishes were. So, they took advantage of my situation of the panic attacks, anxiety attacks, and PTSD. It says in the settlement subject to Worker's Comp commission. No proof of anything being mailed to workers comp commission.

## Arguments

1. Because appellant was under psychiatrist care and couldnt make a good sound judgement. Which the appeallant ask to see the doctor before the mediation due to mental state and was denied. Appeallant's counsel and respondent and also the medaitor all new of appeallant's mental state. .... 2

2. Because appeallant had counsel that lied and not advising appeallant of her rights..... 2

3. Because Mackey v. Kerr-McGee Chemical Co., 280 SC 265, 312 S.E.2d 565. Which was required approval by commission to be binding. Which in the settlement it states this is subject to approval by the commission. No Edvience of the settlement being mailed to the commission, or the commission ever recevied them. I asked for proof of this and never received an response..... 2

4. Because appeallant feels this is one sided. Because my benefits were cut off with no hearing. appeallant wrote the commissoner to explain that when the form 21 was filed and the motions that appeallant's counsel never advise the appeallant of the need to respond to it within ten days nor did counsel. Appeallant did find out later that she needed to and wrote the commissioner to hold a hearing or to aleast tell my side and that didn't happen. Appeallant also filed a motion to compel for medical treatment which is in a previsous settlement that was made just a few months before the mediation. Which by the way I was unaware of the mediation and don't know who filed for mediation. Appeallant was lied to about mediation by both sides. One sided is we had settlement of where they were to provide

medical treatment to appeallant within responsible amount of time for surgery. Appeallant was denied medical treatment for over a year and half due to hardware issues. Commissioner denied appeallant motion to compel but, granted their's. Which is like saying I am going to hold you to your settlement along with not even giving me a chance to tell my side. (Due process). But, I am not going to hold them to their settlement..... 2