RECEIVED

Feb 16 2022

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE SOUTH
CAROLINA WORKERS'
COMPENSATION COMMISSION

Case No. 2021-000517

Shelia Hutchins, Employee,

Appellant,

v.

Security Group, Inc.,
Employer, and Hartford
Accident and Indemnity Co.,
Carrier,

Respondents.

[INITIAL] BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

Tracy Welsh Tiddy
325 Rocky Slope Road, Suite 201
Greenville, South Carolina 29607
(864) 527-3271
Attorney for Respondents

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. DID THE APPELLATE PANEL OF THE SOUTH CAROLINA WORKERS COMPENSATION COMMISSION CORRECTLY FIND THAT THE SETTLEMENTS IN THIS MATTER SHOULD BE ENFORCED?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On April 29, 2020, Appellant and Respondents participated in a mediation of both of her workers' compensation claims. Appellant was represented by counsel at mediation. At the conclusion of the mediation, the parties agreed to resolve both claims via settlement. Also on April 29, 2020, the parties fully executed settlement agreements or "clinchers" in both claims which were signed by Appellant, her then attorney, and counsel for Respondents. (See settlement agreements in WCC File Nos. 1421297 and 1717574). On April 30, 2020, the mediator, Derrick Williams, filed a Form 70 with the South Carolina Workers Compensation Commission (hereinafter "Commission") advising the Commission that both cases had settled. (See Form 70). Respondents issued a filing fee check and mailed the documents to the Commission, along with the filing fee.

The Commission received correspondence from the Appellant on May 7, 2020 (which was dated May 1, 2020) indicating she "changed her mind and don't wish for this settlement to be processed." (Correspondence from Appellant stamped received May 7, 2020). Also on that day, the Commission made the decision to return the settlement documents to Respondents since they received the above-referenced communication from the Appellant. (See documentation from Commission file dated May 7, 2020).

On May 11, 2020, Respondents filed a Notice of Motion and Motion to Compel enforcement of the settlement agreements. (See Notice of Motion and Motion to Compel dated May 11, 2020).

In separate orders dated May 22 and May 28, 2020, Appellant's counsel was relieved in both claims at his request. (Orders dated May 22 & 28, 2020, relieving counsel). On June 5, 2020, Commissioner Melody James issued an order allowing the Appellant 30 days from June 16, 2020 to obtain other counsel. (Order of Commissioner James dated June 5, 2020). On September 8, 2020, more than 90 days after Appellant was allowed additional time to obtain counsel, Commissioner Mike Campbell issued an order granting Respondents' Motion to Compel the settlements. (Order of Commissioner Campbell dated September 8, 2020).

On September 23, 2020, Appellant filed a Form 30 appeal of Commissioner Campbell's order. Oral arguments were held before an appellate panel of the S.C. Workers' Compensation Commission on January 25, 2021. On April 14, 2021, the appellate panel issued a decision and order in which it found, in pertinent part, that pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-390, (1) Commission approval of settlements between represented parties is not required; and (2) the amount of compensation and the time and manner of payment in the previously executed clincher agreements were in accordance with the provisions of the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Act and should be enforced. (Order of Appellate Panel dated April 14, 2021). On May 12, 2021, Appellant filed a Notice of Appeal with this Court.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The South Carolina Administrative Procedures Act establishes the standard for judicial review by decisions of an appellate panel of the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Commission. See Lark v. Bi-Lo, Inc., 276 S.C. 130, 134-35, 276 S.E. 2d 304, 306 (1981). Specifically, the Appellate Court may reverse or modify a decision of the Commission when the decision (1) is affected by an error of law; (2) is clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative,

and substantial evidence; or (3) is arbitrary or capricious or characterized by an abuse of discretion. S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-380(5); Shealy v. Aiken County, 341 S.C. 448, 454, 535 S.E.2d 438, 442 (2000).

FACTS

Appellant, a manager of a loan office, originally injured her right knee on November 20, 2014, approximately seven years ago. The claim was admitted, and extensive treatment has been provided. (WCC File No. 1421297). Appellant has been treated for her knee by Dr. Walter Grady, Dr. Michael Hoenig, Dr. Anthony Sanchez, Dr. Thomas Leong, Dr. Stephen Kana, and Dr. Gregory Colbath, among others. She has been placed at maximum medical improvement (MMI) for her knee on several occasions. The claim has been settled twice on consent orders which compensated Appellant for permanent partial disability to her right knee. (See consent orders dated June 16, 2017 and January 17, 2020). On both occasions, Appellant delayed the settlement and attempted to withdraw from the agreements, but eventually signed the paperwork in question after long delays. In accordance with the previous orders, Appellant was paid a total of 25% to the knee on a 10% rating.

Appellant was previously represented by attorney Charlie Hodge in the knee claim who secured a permanent partial disability settlement for her and prevailed in a claim for a change of condition for the worse and the selection of the doctor of her choice, Dr. Thomas Leong. Mr. Hodge eventually withdrew as counsel when Appellant declined to sign the second Consent Order settlement she had agreed to under oath and on the record before Commissioner Avery Wilkerson. (See Order releasing Mr. Hodge as Counsel dated July 26, 2019).

The second claim in dispute involves a claim for sexual harassment apparently culminating around May of 2017, now more than four years ago. (WCC File No. 1717574). Appellant contends

that her supervisor sent her suggestive text messages, arranged to meet her for wine and cheese in the office conference room, and touched her on one occasion. An investigation revealed improper conduct on the part of the supervisor and the claim was accepted and treatment was provided.

After Mr. Hodge petitioned to be relieved, Appellant retained attorney Thomas Phillips with Smith Jordan, P.A. to represent her in both claims.

Both cases were pending for hearing before the S.C. Workers' Compensation Commission, the knee claim on Appellant's request that she be able to see another physician of her choosing (Dr. Leong declined to see her further), and the psychological claim on the issue of additional medical treatment. Given that WCC File No. 1717574 is a mental/mental claim, it is subject to mandatory mediation. 34 S.C. Code Regs. 67-1802 (Supp. 2013).

Due to the multiple pending claims and Ms. Appellant's history of claiming she did not understand the terms of prior settlements, the parties carefully selected Derrick Williams, a well-respected claimant's lawyer and former workers' compensation commissioner, to mediate this case to ensure Appellant would have all of her questions answered and concerns addressed. The mediation was held on April 29, 2020 and Mr. Williams spent nearly eight hours with the parties (including Appellant's common law husband) to reach a carefully crafted and fair resolution to both claims. Settlement documents in both claims were prepared and fully executed by the parties on the day of the mediation (see settlement agreements in WCC File Nos. 1421297 & 1717574). The Form 70 Mediator's report was filed with the Commission on April 30. (See Form 70). A filing fee check was issued and the documents were forwarded to and received by the Commission. (See documentation from Commission file dated May 7, 2020). As indicated above, Appellant apparently

decided on May 1 that she had changed her mind and no longer wanted to proceed with the settlement. (Correspondence from Claimant stamped received May 7, 2020).

ARGUMENT

- I. THE APPELLATE PANEL OF THE S.C. WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION CORRECTLY FOUND THAT THE SETTLEMENTS IN THIS MATTER SHOULD BE ENFORCED AND CLAIMANT HAS FAILED TO ESTABLISH THAT THE COMMISSION'S DECISION IS BASED ON AN ERROR OF LAW OR AN ABUSE OF DISCRETION.

The South Carolina Workers' Compensation Act encourages parties to come to resolution and settle claims prior to hearing because settlement of claims promotes the efficiency of the process and reduces costs for all parties involved in the system. The statute governing workers' compensation settlements specifically provides, "[n]othing contained in this chapter may be construed so as to prevent settlements made by and between an employee and employer as long as the amount of compensation and time and manner of payment are in accordance with the provisions of this title." S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-390 (2007). That statute further provides that only when a claimant is unrepresented must the settlement agreement be approved by the Commission. If a claimant is represented, the executed documents are merely to be filed with the Commission's claims department. *Id.*; 34 S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 67-803 (Supp. 2010).

As noted above, the Appellant was represented by competent counsel and all parties and counsel fully executed the settlement documents on the day of the mediation and promptly forwarded the same to the Commission for filing.

While Commission approval is not required or even available where the parties are represented by counsel, it is clear that the terms of the settlements in the case at bar are in accordance with the provisions of Title 42 of the South Carolina Code and provided Appellant with fair consideration for both the indemnity and medical portions of her workers compensation claims.

In WCC # 1421297, Appellant was ultimately assigned a 10% total rating to her knee from Dr. Thomas Leong, the doctor of her choosing. Appellant was previously paid indemnity settlements totaling 25% to her right knee. (See consent orders dated June 16, 2017 & January 17, 2020). On the date of the mediation, Appellant, with advice of counsel, agreed to clincher the indemnity aspects of her claim for an additional 40% to the knee or \$30,000. In addition, Respondents agreed to leave medical treatment open for her right knee. (See settlement agreement in WCC File No. 1421297, dated April 29, 2020). Considering the previous indemnity settlements, the agreement at mediation compensated Appellant for a total of 65% to her right knee. (See consent orders dated June 16, 2017 & January 17, 2020). Clearly the settlement on the knee claim (WCC # 1421297) was advantageous to Appellant.

In addition, in WCC #1717574, the psychological claim, the parties agreed to settle the matter on a full and final basis for \$50,000 (\$45,000 for indemnity and \$5,000 for possible future medical). (See settlement agreement in WCC File No. 1717574, dated April 29, 2020).

Not only are both settlements in accordance with the provisions of the South Carolina Workers Compensation Act, they are abundantly fair to Appellant.

While Respondents contend filing is merely a ministerial function where the Commission does not require or provide for “approval” of workers compensation settlements between represented parties, it is clear that the settlement documents were sent to and received by the Commission pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. §42-9-390. The Commission’s file documents that the settlement agreements were in their possession on May 7, 2020, when they received the letter from Claimant evidencing her intent to withdraw from the same (Letter from Appellant to Commission, stamped “Received” on May 7, 2020). Specifically, the Commission staff attorney Keith Roberts

directed Amy Bracy, the judicial director, to “return them [the two settlement agreements] to the defense attorney.” (Commission file documentation dated May 7, 2020).

This Court addressed the enforceability of a workers’ compensation settlement in Mackey v. Kerr-McGee Chemical Co., 280 S.C. 265, 312 S.E.2d 565 (Ct. App. 1984). In that case, the attorneys appeared before the commissioner and advised the case had settled; but significantly, the Claimant was not present when the agreement was presented to the Commissioner and did not voice her consent. She later declined to sign the paperwork. The Mackey court concluded that it could not enforce the settlement based on those facts, but relied on the language of S.C. Code Ann. §42-9-390, which at that time required approval of the Commission. Mackey v. Kerr-McGee Chemical Co., 280 S.C. 265, 312 S.E.2d 565 (Ct. App. 1984). The Court specifically noted that while no case had expressly answered the question of whether a settlement is binding prior to Commission approval, the S.C. Supreme Court had indicated in earlier decisions that because the approval of the Commission was required by statute at that time, it followed that a settlement agreement was not binding until approved. Mackey, citing Singleton v. Young Lumber Co., 236 S.C. 454, 114 S.E.2d 837 (1960).

Obviously, the settlements here are distinguishable from those in Mackey. First, while Mackey was not present when her counsel orally agreed to the settlement, the Appellant in this matter, who is college-educated, reviewed and signed the paperwork, along with her attorney, at a mediation conducted by a respected former commissioner. Perhaps more importantly, the law has changed since Mackey was decided. In 1960, the statute required Commission approval of a settlement between represented parties which, as pointed out by this Court, implied that the settlement was not final until it had been reduced to writing and was stamped “approved.” In 2007, the legislature amended S.C. Code Ann. §42-9-390 to eliminate the prior requirement that

settlements between represented parties must be approved by the Commission, endorsing the idea that where a claimant is represented by competent counsel and clearly evidences an understanding of the terms of a settlement, it should be recognized as binding by the Commission.

Though there is no case law on point in South Carolina since the statute was amended in 2007, other jurisdictions have enforced workers' compensation settlements for the sake of public interest. In B. Frank Joy Co. v. Isaac, 636 A.2d 1016 (Md. 1993), an employee and employer entered into a settlement agreement and submitted that agreement to the Maryland Workers Compensation Commission for approval. The claimant died eight days before the hearing. At the hearing, the employer sought to rescind the agreement, arguing they had that right at any time before the settlement was approved by the Commission. The Commission nevertheless approved and enforced the agreement. In affirming this decision, the court noted that the Maryland statute required approval of an agreement in order to be enforceable but stated:

That does not mean, however, that the parties have total freedom to renege a valid bilateral agreement . . . in compliance with the Act. When they present a duly executed settlement agreement . . . the parties thereby relinquish control of the matter to the supervisory powers, authority, and discretion bestowed upon the Commission. Then a party, acting unilaterally, does not have unfettered license to withdraw what that party has submitted in good faith. Isaac, 636 A2d at 1025.

In order to preserve the sanctity of a voluntary, good faith settlement, the Commission and this Court should honor duly executed agreements between represented parties which have been submitted for filing.

Defendants would draw this Court's attention to the fact that while a Motion to Strike Appellant's prior brief and portions of the designation of the matter to be included in the Record on Appeal was granted by this Court on November 17, 2021, Appellant's amended brief is replete with references to information outside the record including statements reportedly made by her counsel, physicians, and the nurse case manager. She also refers to conversations she reportedly